1951

LaPriel Taylor v. George Q. Waddoupe and Marie Waddoupe : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In the case before the court the Petition for Adop-
tion of Howard Wayne Taylor, Linda Kay Taylor, Sheryl

Rae Taylor and Karon Taylor was filed by the defendants on the 8th day of December 1950. On the 6th day of January 1951 an Order of Adoption was entered by the court adopting the children to the defendants. A purported Consent of Adoption, which had been signed before a notary public, was filed by the defendants, and the Order of Adoption issued by the court was based upon said consent.

No notice of the hearing was given to either parents of said children. On the 26th day of February 1951 the plaintiff filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and an Order of Writ of Habeas Corpus was issued by the court. The petition was filed by LaPriel Taylor, the mother of said children, and was filed for the purpose of obtaining the custody of the children. The plaintiff also filed on the 28th day of February 1951 a Motion to Vacate the Order of Adoption entered as aforesaid. The motion was based upon an affidavit and a Notice of Motion was filed on the same date, together with an Answer to the Petition of Adoption.

The defendants filed their Answer to the Writ of Habeas Corpus and the matter was set for hearing on the 12th day of March 1951 but was continued upon motion of the defendants to the 26th day of March 1951. On the 26th day of March 1951 the defendants filed a brief in support of the Order of Adoption and requested a continuance until the 8th day of April 1951. On the 26th day of March the plaintiff was given time to file a reply brief. On the 5th day of April 1951 the plaintiff

filed her brief. On the 8th day of April 1951 the court continued the matter until the 22nd day of April and gave the defendants the right to file a reply brief, which was done on or about the 20th day of April 1951. On the 22nd day of April 1951 the court granted plaintiff's Motion to Vacate the Order of Adoption and the hearing on the Writ of Habeas Corpus together with the hearing on the Petition for Adoption was set for the 14th day of May 1951 at the hour of 2 o'clock p.m. Since the facts in both cases were the same, the two cases were heard jointly. The hearing was had and the court on the 28th day of May 1951 entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment on the Writ of Habeas Corpus. The court awarded the writ in part and awarded Howard Wayne Taylor to the mother, LaPriel Taylor, and denied the writ in part and awarded the custody of Linda Kay, Sheryl Rae and Karen to the defendants George Q. and Marie Waddoups. On the 18th day of June 1951 the court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment and entered an Order of Adoption and granted the Petition of Adoption in part and denied it in part. The court denied the Petition of Adoption for Howard Wayne Taylor but granted the Petition for Adoption of Linda Kay, Sheryl Rae and Karen Taylor to the defendants, and from these judgments the plaintiff appeals. LaPriel Taylor, the mother of the children in this case will be called the plaintiff and George Q. Waddoups and Marie Waddoups, his wife, the adopting parents, will be called the defendants.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff, LaPriel Taylor, and her former husband, Howard Wayne Taylor, were the parents of four children — Howard Wayne, Linda Kay, Sheryl Rae and Karen Taylor. She was married to Howard Taylor in 1940 and obtained a divorce in Cache County in 1944. She re-married him in 1946 and obtained a second divorce from Howard Wayne Taylor on the 13th day of December 1950 in the Third Judicial District. Throughout their marriage the husband of the plaintiff was very unstable and irresponsible and wilfully failed to support his family. He was sentenced to the State penitentiary upon a charge of burglary and received a dishonorable discharge from the Army Air Corps. He deserted his family intermittently throughout their marriage. He deserted them once in 1948, once in 1949, and deserted his wife in April 1950.

When Mr. Taylor failed to support his family, the plaintiff was forced to go to her parents' home and obtain assistance from the Welfare until she could obtain employment with which to support herself and minor children. From September 1948 until December 1950 the plaintiff was suffering from ill health and was unable to work to support herself and minor children. On June 1, 1949 she placed three of her children with the defendants who were plaintiff's second cousins. The Cache County Department of Public Welfare supported them in the defendants' home from June 1, 1949 to about January 15, 1950. On June 1st the mother placed the children

with the defendants so that she could go to California, where her husband was then working for the Southern Pacific Railroad, in an effort to effect a reconciliation and to persuade him to support her and the minor children.

He lost his job and they returned to Cache County around the 1st day of October 1949 and plaintiff and her husband lived with plaintiff's parents in Nibley, Cache County, Utah, until the 15th day of January 1950. The husband lived with the plaintiff until November 28, 1949, when he deserted the plaintiff and his children. Prior to the time he deserted them on the 28th of November 1949 he sold his automobile for the sum of \$450 and promised to give the plaintiff \$250 to enable her to obtain an operation needed to restore her to normal health. Instead of giving the money to the plaintiff he took the money and deserted her as above stated.

On or about the 15th day of January 1950 the plaintiff moved to Ogden and took her four minor children with her. She rented an apartment and due to her impaired health, and because of the tender years of the children, and also due to the fact that the father would not support them, she obtained assistance from the Weber County Department of Public Welfare.

Neither the Weber County Department of Public Welfare nor the Cache County Department of Public Welfare were able to give the plaintiff the needed medical attention to restore her to health. Her physical condition grew worse and throughout this entire time the

plaintiff had fainting spells and fainted once and twice a day due to anemia caused from hemorrhages.

During the last two weeks in February 1950 the plaintiff's parents were forced to take two of the children and care for them as the plaintiff was unable to do so on account of her ill health. On or about the 1st day of March 1950 the defendants went to the plaintiff's home and plaintiff told the defendants that due to her health and because of the acts of her husband she was going to be forced to place her children for adoption and if the defendant would bring a consent of adoption on the 9th of March 1950 her husband would be there and they would sign said consent. On the 9th day of March 1950 the defendants came to the plaintiff's home with a purported consent of adoption which the plaintiff and her husband signed before a notary public in Ogden, Utah. The plaintiff and her husband signed the Consent of Adoption and surrendered the children to the defendants.

That on the 9th day of March 1950 prior to the time that the plaintiff signed the purported Consent of Adoption, the defendants told the plaintiff that if her health improved and she got to the point where she could care for the children that they would return the children to her. That on the 8th day of March 1950 the defendants told the plaintiff's parents that they would return the children to the plaintiff if her health improved and she was able to care for them. This information was given to the plaintiff by her parents prior to the signing of the

purposed Consent of Adoption, and the defendants now refuse to fulfil the agreement entered into by and between the plaintiff and defendant on the said 9th day of March 1950.

The plaintiff then went to Salt Lake City with her husband who had promised to provide her with the necessary medical attention to correct the condition which was then causing her ill health. During the month of April the plaintiff's husband was arrested in Ogden, Utah, upon a misdemeanor and was sentenced to the Ogden City jail. He escaped from the jail and deserted the plaintiff. The plaintiff at that time was pregnant and due to her ill health and pregnancy she was forced to again apply for assistance from Salt Lake County.

From the 9th day of March 1950 to November 1950 she visited the children on several occasions and took presents and articles of clothing to them. She also kept in touch with the defendants by mail. The defendants are the second cousins of the plaintiff and the plaintiff was well acquainted with the home conditions in the defendants' home prior to the time she gave the children to the defendants.

On the 28th day of November 1950 a fifth child was born to the plaintiff and her husband and on that date the doctors at the Salt Lake County hospital performed an operation upon the plaintiff—the operation necessary to correct plaintiff's ill health.

On the 8th day of December 1950 the plaintiff informed the defendants that her health had improved and

that she wished the children returned to her, but the defendants refused to do so. During the Christmas holidays in December 1950 the plaintiff again requested the defendants to return the children to her and they again refused to surrender the children.

The Cache County Department of Public Welfare knew of plaintiff's desire to regain the custody of the children but they and the defendants failed to inform the court of this fact on the 6th day of January 1951 when the first Order of Adoption was granted.

That at the time of the hearing on the 14th day of May 1951 the plaintiff was then engaged to be married to one Kernoff Christensen, who was of the age of 41 years and is a welder by trade and capable of earning a regular weekly income of \$80 per week.

That since the hearing and on or about the 20th day of June 1951 the contemplated marriage was consummated. Kernoff Christensen testified in court that he had been with the children on different occasions and that if the children were given to the plaintiff, upon their marriage, he would assume the responsibility of supporting and maintaining them and that he would see they were not placed upon welfare. On the 28th day of May 1951 the court granted the Writ of Habeas Corpus in part and awarded the custody of Howard Wayne Taylor, age 10 years, to the plaintiff, and denied the hearing in part and awarded Linda Kay, Sheryl Rae and Karen to the defendants. On the 18th day of June 1950 the court granted the Petition for Adoption in part and granted

an Order of Adoption to the defendants of Linda Kay, Sheryl Rae and Karen and denied the Petition of Adoption for Howard Wayne Taylor. From these judgments the plaintiff now appeals.

ARGUMENTS

1. That the court erred in finding that the Consent of Adoption was in accordance with the provisions of Section 14-4-8, Utah Code Annotated of 1943.

2. The court further erred in finding that the Consent of Adoption as signed by the plaintiff was irrevocable.

3. The court erred in making any finding in the adoption proceedings that the plaintiff had abandoned her children for the reason that there were no allegations in the petition that the children had been abandoned by the plaintiff, nor did the petition pray that the children be found to be deserted and abandoned children.

4. That the court erred in finding that it was for the best welfare and interest of said children that they be adopted by the defendants.

5. That the court erred in entering its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in both the adoption proceedings and the writ of habeas corpus, as they were contrary to and not supported by the evidence.

The provisions of Chapter 4, Title 14, so far as are relevant to this case, are as follows: Section 14-4-4, Section 14-4-8, Utah Code Annotated 1943.

14-4-4. Consent to Adoption.

“A legitimate child cannot be adopted without the consent of its parents, if living, nor an illegitimate child without the consent of its mother, if living, except that consent is not necessary from a father or mother who has been judicially deprived of the custody of the child on account of cruelty, neglect or desertion; provided, that the district court may order the adoption of any child, without notice to or consent in court of the parent or parents thereof, whenever it shall appear that the parent or parents whose consent would otherwise be required have theretofore, in writing, acknowledged before any officer authorized to take acknowledgements, released his or her or their control or custody of such child to any agency licensed to receive children for placement or adoption under Chapter 3 of this Title, and such agency consents, in writing, to such adoption.”

14-4-8. Procedure—Agreement of Adopting Parents.

The person adopting a child and the child adopted, and the other persons whose consent is necessary, must appear before the district court of the county where the person adopting resides, and the necessary consent must thereupon be signed and an agreement be executed by the person adopting to the effect that the child shall be

adopted and treated in all respects as his own lawful child.

It seems clear that the alleged consent in the case at bar was not made in conformity with the statutes, as it was not signed before the court nor was it signed in the county where the adopting parents reside.

That the petitioners and the children to be adopted and all persons whose consent is necessary must appear before the District Court in the county where the adopting parents reside and the necessary consent must thereupon be signed.

The consent in the case at bar was not signed before the court as required by this section of the Statute but was signed before a notary public in Ogden, a fact which was found by the trial court.

In the 1933 Utah Code Annotated, 14-4-8, the statute provides as follows:

Procedure — Contract of Adopting Parents:

The person adopting a child and the child adopted, and the other persons whose consent is necessary, must appear before the district court of the county where the person adopting resides, and the necessary consent must thereupon be signed and an agreement be executed by the person adopting to the effect that the child shall be adopted and treated in all respects as his own lawful child; provided, that if the persons whose consent is necessary are not within the county, then their written

consent, duly acknowledged in the manner provided for the acknowledgement of deeds, shall be filed at the time of the application for adoption.

This has been the law in Utah for a number of years but the Legislature in 1941 deemed it advisable to change the provisions of Sections 14-4-8 in the 1933 Code to correct certain abuses that then existed.

If the consent of adoption in the case now before the court is held to comply with the provisions of our Statute, then no change would have been made by the amendment made in 1941, as this holding would in effect continue the practice that existed prior to the amendment in 1941.

The Section 14-4-8 was made by the Legislature to protect both adopting parents and parents surrendering children for adoption.

By requiring persons to appear before the court when they signed a Consent of Adoption to their minor children, the court can then protect parents from fraud, misrepresentation, force or undue influence in obtaining consents of adoption. The court being an impartial body could see that parents are informed and that they fully understand the effect of the act which they are performing. In the case at bar if this consent had been signed before the court and, as in this case, the parents were told they could have the children back upon certain contingencies, the court would have taken the proper steps to

protect the mother's rights to the children. Oftentimes consents of adoption are granted while under great emotional strain and, as in this case, at times they are signed while suffering from discouragement and despair, and to permit a consent to be signed before a notary public and to allow prospective foster parents to take advantage of these conditions and to "railroad" persons into signing consents before the consequence of their acts have been duly considered. Since the adoption statute is purely statutory and since the matter involved is so extremely important, that of placing the lives of your children in the hands of another should be strictly construed.

Sufficiency of Consent

There was no adoption of common law. This aspect of jurisprudence was known to the Civil Law of Rome, to the ancient Assyrians and to the early Germans.

Ashlock v. Ashlock, 360 Ill. 115.

But what provisions we have on the subject is purely statutory, and in derogation of common law.

Hook v. Wright, 329 Ill. 299;

Keal v. Rhydderick, 317 Ill. 231;

Rabbitt v. Weber & Co., 297 Ill. 491, 31 So.

(2) 163 211 La. 910.

In Ashlock v. Ashlock, 360 Ill. 115, the Court said (P. 121):

Where a Court in exercising a special statutory jurisdiction the record must show upon its

face that the particular proceeding is one upon which the court has authority to act. Jurisdiction in such cases is never presumed . . . (Rice v. Travis, 216 Ill. 249) . . . Although adoption statutes are construed liberally . . . there must be substantial compliance with the provision of the statute conferring jurisdiction or the proceedings will be void.

In *Watts v. Dull*, 104 Ill. 86, one of the questions presented was the effect of the failure of the petitioner's husband to join in the petition for adoption. The Supreme Court held that the petition was insufficient to confer jurisdiction and that the adoption decree was a nullity.

In discussing the *Watts* case, the Court in the *Ashlock* decision said, P. 123:

In the recent case of *McConnell v. McConnell*, (345 Ill. 70) where it was announced that the rule of strict compliance was no longer adhered to, we expressly referred to the decision on the *Watts* case as correct for the reason that there had not been substantial compliance with the statute.

The Supreme Court in *People v. Cole*, 322 Ill. 95 (in reversing 320 Ill. Appr. 413 said:

"The adoption proceedings being statutory, the validity of a decree of adoption depends upon the compliance with every essential requirement of the statute authorizing it."

For the same ruling, see:

In re *Bohn*, 306 Ill. 214;
People v. Fahey, 230 Ill. App. 143.

One American Jurisprudence P. 37.

"The rule in the great majority of the jurisdictions wherein the question has arisen, is that a natural parent's consent to the proposed adoption of a child, duly given in compliance with a statute requiring such consent as a prerequisite to such adoption, may be effectively withdrawn or revoked by the natural parent before the adoption has been finally approved and decreed by the court, and a natural parent's withdrawal of consent to an adoption, even after the order confirming the adoption has been made, but prior to the expiration of the time for filing a petition for a rehearing, may sometimes prove effective.

And while it has been indicated that the natural parent's right to withdraw consent to adoption is entirely a matter of personal choice, but not dependent upon any stated reason, it has also been indicated that intervening vested rights on the part of the adopting parents or the child might exclude the natural parents from withdrawing consent and thus barring the adoption."

In 2 C. J. S. Adoption, Par. 21 (4) the general rule as the effect of the withdrawal of consent to adoption by the natural parent is stated as follows :

Consent may be Withdrawn Before Adoption.

"Consent may be withdrawn at any time before adoption, even though given in writing, and accompanied by transfer of the custody of the child, and even though the

natural parent had abandoned the child, and an adoption based upon a consent that has been withdrawn is void."

Washington

In *State Ex Rel Town v. Superior Court*, 165 Pac. (2nd) 862. "Certiorari issued to review the order of the Juvenile Court of Kitsop County adjudicating a four year old child to be dependent. It was the illegitimate child of one Irene who was admittedly unfit for its custody. On November 10, 1944 said Irene (mother) gave her written consent to the adoption of her child and on January 26, 1945, while said adoption proceedings were pending, she appeared in court and revoked her consent. The court allowed her revocation and returned to her the child. The statutes of Washington are almost identical with those of Illinois."

Other cases in this jurisdiction holding that a consent may be withdrawn are:

Nelms v. Birkland, 279 P. 748, 153 Wash. 243;
In Re Roderick, 291 P. 225, 158 Wash. 377.

In the *Nelms* case the court quoted with approval 1 C. P. 1378:

"A natural parent, by entering into a contract for the adoption of his child by another, waives his rights to the custody and control of the child, but subject to his liability to be sued for his breach of his contract, he may revoke his gift and resume custody of his child at any time before a legal adoption has been made.

Oregon

In re: Adoption of Capparelli, 175 P. (2nd) 1933, the Oregon Supreme Court said as follows in holding that a consent may be revoked:

It is the general rule that the natural parent who has consented to the adoption of a child in compliance with a statute which makes such consent a prerequisite to adoption may effectively withdraw or revoke his consent at any time before the court has made a decree of adoption. (cases cited).

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