1951

LaPriel Taylor v. George Q. Waddoupe and Marie Waddoupe : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF CACHE COUNTY
STATE OF UTAH

In the Matter of the Adoption of
Howard Wayne Taylor,
Lindsay Kay Taylor,
Sheryl Rae Taylor, and
Karen Taylor,
Minors.

} CONSENT TO
ADOPTION

We, the undersigned, parents of the following named children, to-wit:

Howard Wayne Taylor Age 9 years
Linda Kay Taylor Age 7 years
Sheryl Rae Taylor Age 2 years
Karen Taylor Age 1 year

hereby consent that the above named children may be adopted by George Q. Waddoups and wife, Maria A. Waddoups, of Logan, Utah, as prayed for in the petition for adoption to be filed in the above entitled court and cause and in pursuance to the statutes in such cases made and provided.

DATED this 9th day of March, A. D., 1950.

HOWARD C. TAYLOR
LAPRIEL PAGE TAYLOR.

STATE OF UTAH }
 } ss.
 County of Weber }

On this 9th day of March, A. D., 1950, personally appeared before me, Howard Taylor and LaPriel H. Taylor, the signers of the above and foregoing consent to adoption, who duly acknowledged to me that they understood the same and that the same was executed voluntarily and of their own free will and consent.

RHEAH B. POULTER,
 Notary Public.
 Residing at: Ogden, Utah.

My Commission Expires: January 17, 1954.

The defendants relied upon said adoption agreement, and on March 9, 1950, they took the children into their home with the express intention of adopting them. (Tr. 108, 191). The plaintiff was conversant with the intent of Exhibit One, because it is denominated as a "Consent to Adoption." It also mentioned the name of the court and cause, so plaintiff was put on notice that adoption proceedings were contemplated. "Exhibit One," also provides that the undersigned — "hereby consent that the above named children may be adopted by George Q. Waddoups and wife, Maria A. Waddoups of Logan, Utah, as prayed for in the petition for adoption to be filed in the above entitled court and cause." And in the acknowledgement it expressly provides that the plaintiff and her husband acknowledged to the notary public "that they understood — "the consent for adoption — "and that the same was executed voluntarily and of their own free will and consent."

It will thus be seen from the form and contents of "Exhibit One" that plaintiff was put on notice of the true intent, purpose, and finality of said contract for adoption. It will also be seen that there is no condition or qualification expressed therein. She was definitely advised that adoption proceedings would follow in accordance with — "the statutes in such cases made and provided."

This court has had occasion to determine the legal effect to be given to a written relinquishment and consent for adoption and in each case this court has held that parents may by contract legally transfer and surrender their child or children into the custody of another person to be adopted by the latter, if the child is not prejudiced by the transaction. The cases so holding are:

Stanford v. Gray, 42 Utah 228, 129 Pac. 423

Hummel v. Parrish, 43 Utah 373, 134 Pac. 898

Farmer v. Christensen, 55 Utah 1, 183 Pac. 328

Flora v. Flora, 84 Utah 143, 29 P 2d 498

In the Stanford case this court had under consideration a written consent for adoption, executed by the child's mother, the child having been born out of wedlock. Subsequently thereto, the child's mother having married, brought action against Mr. and Mrs. Gray, with whom the said child had been placed for adoption.

At the trial, the consent for adoption was offered and received in evidence, but the trial court held that the child's mother was not bound by said contract. On appeal to this court, the trial court was reversed. Construing the legal effect of a written contract for adoption, this court said:

“There are some authorities which hold that a contrat made by a parent in which he surrenders the care, control, and custody of his minor child to another is void as against public policy. The great weight of authority, however, sustains the position of appellants that a parent may by contract legally transfer and surrender his infant child into the custody of another where the interest of the child is not prejudiced by the transaction.”

In *Humel v. Parrish et. al.* 43 Utah 373, 134 Pac. 898; the child was born to appellant out of wedlock, at Budapest, Hungary, on February 13, 1903. When the child was about 14 months old appellant left the child with her mother, and about two years thereafter appellant's mother emigrated to the United States, bringing with her the child. Shortly thereafter the grandmother believing that her daughter was dead, signed a written relinquishment and consent for adoption of the child to Samuel J. and Caddie R. Parrish. Later the child's mother brought habeas corpus against Mr. and Mrs. Parrish, to obtain the custody of the child. The trial court denied plaintiffs writ, and she appealed to this court.

In referring to the theory adopted by the trial court, this court said:

“It seems that the court, in rendering its decision denying the writ, proceeded upon the theory; First, that the appellant had surrendered and delivered the child into the care and custody of its grandmother; and, second, that it would be for the best interest of the child for it to remain in the care and custody of the respondents.”

In the course of the opinion in *Humel v. Parrish*, supra, this court quoted what was thought to be the correct rule laid down by the Supreme Court of Iowa in the case of *Smidt v. Benenga*, 118 N. W. 440, in the following language:

“Generally speaking, the natural parents are entitled to the care, custody, and control of their minor children; but they may by agreement or conduct deprive themselves of this natural right and confer it upon others.”

In *Farmer v. Christensen*, 55 Utah 1, 183 P. 328, this court announced the rule which we think is applicable to the facts in the instant case, and we quote from 55 Utah, page 5:

“It is true, everything else being equal, that the natural parent of a child is entitled to its care, custody, and control. This court, however, by its former decisions, is committed to the more humane doctrine that in cases of this nature the natural parent may, by agreement or by conduct, deprive himself of his natural right and confer it upon others; that in cases where the parent has lost that right either by agreement or conduct the guiding principle will always be the best interests of the child for the present and its future. *Stanford v. Gray*, 42 Utah, 228, 129 Pac. 423 Ann. Cas. 1916A, 989; *Hummel v. Parrish*, 43 Utah, 373, 134 Pac. 898.

In the case of *Flora v. Flora*, 29 P. 2d. 498, at page 499, this court said: “Here the parents by written consent surrendered the custody of the children to the respondents.”

The case of *Legate v. Legate*, 87 Tex. 248, 28, S.W. 281 is cited and quoted in *Stanford v. Gray*, *Supra*. The following rule laid down by the Texas court is applicable to the facts in the instant case: We quote:

“Where, however, a parent, by writing or otherwise, has voluntarily transferred and delivered his minor child into the custody and under the control of another, as in the case at bar, and then seeks to recover possession of the child by writ of habeas corpus, such parent is invoking the exercise of the equitable discretion of the court to disrupt private domestic relations which he has voluntarily brought about, and the court will not grant the relief, unless upon a hearing of all the facts it is of the opinion that the best interests of the child would be promoted thereby.”

In the case of *Curtis v. Curtis*, 5 Gray (Mass.) 537, also cited in the *Stanford* case, the court said:

“And the courts are all of the opinion that, so far as the rights of the mother are concerned, she has relinquished them by this instrument which operates either as a contract or an estoppel — and it is immaterial which — to prevent her from now setting up her rights.”

The case of *Stanford v. Gray*, 42 Utah 228, appears to be the earliest case in this jurisdiction and the opinion deals exhaustively with the fundamental principles involved. In the next case, *Hummel v. Parrish*, 43 Utah 373, the principles laid down in *Stanford v. Gray*, were followed, and this court in the *Hummel* case said:

“This doctrine was recognized and approved in the case of *Stanford v. Gray*, 42 Utah, 228, 129 Pac. 423,

recently decided by this court. In addition to the authorities there cited we invite attention to the following cases in which the principle was adhered to and followed: In Re. Stockman, 71 Mich. 180, 38 N.W. 876; Jones v. Darnall, 103 Ind. 569, 2 N.E. 229, 53 Am. Rep. 545; United States v. Green, 3 Mason, 482, Fed. Cas. No. 15,256; Schneider v. Schwabe (Tex. Civ. App.) 143 S.W. 265, Stringfellow v. Somerville, 95 Va. 701, 29 S.E. 685, 40 L.R.A. 623; Kelsey v. Green, 69 Conn. 291, 27 Atl. 679, L.R.A. 471; Sturtevant v. State, 15 Neb. 459, 19 N.W. 617, 48 Am. Rep. 349; Fields v. Deming, 56 Wash. 259, 105 Pac. 466."

In the third case of Farmer v. Christensen, 55 Utah 1, the principles announced in the Stanford case and restated in the Hummel case, were reiterated again.

And in the latest case to be decided by this court, involving a written consent for adoption is Flora v. Flora, 84 Utah 143, 29 P 2d. 498, and it was declared in the opinion that — "Here the parents, by written consent, surrendered the custody of the children to the respondent A. B. Flora." And the Stanford, Hummel and Christensen cases herein reviewed were cited. And from the decisions in these cases it will be seen that the legal effect of a written consent for adoption, which is followed by a petition and order of adoption, casts the burden on the natural parent — "To show that the children are not receiving proper physical, moral, and intellectual training."

The facts in the following Utah cases are clearly distinguishable from the facts in the case at bar.

Harrison v. Harker 44 Utah 541, 142 P. 716.

Jones v. Moore 61 Utah 383, 213 P. 191.

Jensen v. Early 63 Utah 604, 228 P. 217.

Sherry v. Doyle 68 Utah 250, 249 P. 250.

Walton v. Coffman 110 Utah 1, 169 P. 2d. 97.

Baldwin v. Nielsen 110 Utah 172, 172, 170 P. 2d. 179.

Hardcastle v. Hardcastle 221 P. 2d. 883.

In none of the foregoing cases had the parent relinquished his or her rights to the child, by a written consent for adoption. And in most, if not all of those cases, the parent had parted with the custody of child, either because of illegitimacy, or leaving the child for board and lodging, or leaving the child with its grandparents or other relatives. And in some of these cases the parents had later entered into marriage, resulting in an improved condition, whereby the child could be returned to its natural parent, or parents, thus resulting in re-union of parents and child. And in one or more of the cases, the child was returned to the natural mother because of absence of a written consent; and where it was also shown that the parent had not abandoned the child.

The appellant first assigns error, (Point 1) contending that the consent for adoption was not executed in accordance with the provisions of Section 14-4-8. It seems to be appellant's contention that notwithstanding she and her husband executed the consent for adoption to meet the requirements of Section 14-4-4, it is also imperative that an additional consent be executed under Section 14-4-8, at the time of the hearing for adoption, where their written consent to adoption is again necessary and must be signed in the presence of the court.

This contention was rejected by the trial court, in view of the fact that the appellant had previously, to-wit, on March 9, 1950, executed a written consent for adoption. And for the further reason that the adoption order of January 8, 1951, was vacated and the plaintiff was given a hearing on the merits, where she was permitted to offer evidence in opposition to the petition for adoption.

Under appellants contention it would be necessary for a natural parent, who has executed a written consent for adoption, to meet the requirements of Section 14-4-4, to again appear in court when the petition for adoption is heard and sign another consent under Section 14-4-8.

This would seem to be a strained interpretation to place upon Sections 14-4-4, and 14-4-8. Section 14-4-4, provides that — “A legitimate child cannot be adopted without the consent of its parents, if living.” The converse of that provision is — that a legitimate child can be adopted by another if the parent’s consent to the adoption is procured.

Thus, as in the case at bar, the parents having executed a written consent under oath, the provision of Section 14-4-4, is legally complied with. If so, why should it be necessary for the parents to appear in court at the hearing to be held at least one year later, and sign a second consent. Section 14-4-4, does not so provide. This would be very impractical, as well as absurd, and in most cases impossible of performance.

Section 14-4-4 provides four methods to affect the adoption of children.

1. Consent of parents to adoption of legitimate child.
2. Consent of mother to adoption of illegitimate child.
3. Consent of parents not necessary where they have been judicially deprived of the custody of children on account of cruelty, neglect or desertion.
4. Where a parent or parents place the child with a child placing agency, and give such agency a written release of their control and custody of such child; and such agency subsequently executes a consent in writing to the adoptive parents in whose home such child has been placed for adoption.

When Sections 14-4-4 and 14-4-8, are carefully examined it would appear that the latter section has no application to adoption hearings petitioned under paragraphs one, two, and three of Section 14-4-4.

It is, however, the practice under sub-paragraph four, of Section 14-4-4, for an agent of a child placing agency to appear in court and give the agency's consent for adoption at the time of the adoption hearing, and this is no doubt what is intended by the language used in Section 14-4-8, where it provides that, the other person whose consent is necessary, must appear before the district court of the county where the person adopting resides and the necessary consent must thereupon be signed." When this language is read in connection with the last provision of Section 14-4-4, it will be seen that they harmonize. Appellants counsel has failed to cite a Utah case supporting their contention under point 1.

In 1 Am. Jur. 641, the rule is stated that notice of the petition is not necessary "where written consent thereto has been filed with the court." If notice of the hearing is not necessary a Fortiori the natural parents presence in court is not necessary.

The appellant next assigns error, (Point 2) that the trial court erred in finding that the consent of adoption as signed by the plaintiff was irrevocable. It was held in *Stanford v. Gray*, supra, that, — "So far as the rights of the mother is concerned, she has relinquished them by this instrument, which operates either as a contract or an estoppel — and it is immaterial which — to prevent her from setting up her rights."

And in *Flora v. Flora*, 29 P. 2d, 498, at page 499, this court said: "Here the parents by written consent surrendered the custody of the children to the respondents."

It would also appear that the consent to adoption in the instant case is irrevocable, under the rule adhered to by this court in the *Stanford*, *Hummel*, *Christensen* and *Flora* cases. The rule as stated in the *Stanford* case, on pages 242 of 42 Utah, is:

"What we do hold is that, Mrs. Hansen having voluntarily relinquished and surrendered her right to the care and custody of the child, the burden is on her to show that the parties who acquired the custody of the child by virtue and in pursuance of the relinquishment have in some way been derelict in their duty to the child, and that it would be better for the best interests of the child to take it out of their custody and return it to her. This she has wholly failed to do."

Plaintiff contends that the children were taken with the understanding that they would be returned if plaintiff's health improved. This was refuted by defendants since they testified that they took the children in pursuance to the written consent for adoption and relied upon it. And moreover the consent for adoption, "Exhibit One" contains no provision to that effect. Nor is there any such contention made in plaintiff's letters, (R. 51-53) and the last one was written on November 8, 1950, eight months after plaintiff relinquished her parental rights to the children.

Appellant next assigns error (Point 3) that the court erred in finding in the adoption proceedings that the plaintiff had abandoned her children for the reason that there were no allegations in the petition for adoption that the children had been abandoned by the plaintiff, etc.

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